IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC96641 Lower Tribunal No. 96-12224-C

CHARLIE THOMPSON,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

## ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JACK CROOKS Florida Bar No. 155231

ERIC PINKARD Florida Bar No. 0651443

CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL-MIDDLE 3801 Corporex Park Drive Suite 210 Tampa, FL 33619 (813) 740-3544 COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Mr. Thompson was originally charged by indictment on September 17, 1986, and on January 14, 1987, the grand jury amended to first-degree murder (2 counts) by shooting with a firearm and/or stabbing with a knife or other sharp instrument (R. 24).

After a jury trial, Mr. Thompson was found guilty of Counts I, II, III and IV on March 16, 1987 (OR. 1064). On March 16, 1987, the jury rendered an advisory verdict of death by a vote of 9-3 (OR. 1064).

On April 6, 1987, the trial court sentenced Mr. Thompson to death for Counts I and II and imposed life sentences for Counts III and IV (OR. 1265-1266).

On July 20, 1989, the Florida Supreme Court reversed and remanded for a new trial. <u>Thompson v. State</u>, 548 So.2d 198 (Fla. 1989). The Court reversed on two issues: 1. Prosecution's unlawful use of peremptory challenges to exclude blacks from the jury; and 2. Constitutional error based on the admission of the defendant's confession.

On remand, a jury again found Thompson guilty and recommended death by a vote of 7-5 on both murder counts. The trial court imposed two death sentences and two consecutive life sentences for the kidnaping (R. 8-9).

On January, 30, 1992, the Florida Supreme Court again reversed and remanded for a new trial. <u>Thompson v. State</u>, 548 So.2d 198 (Fla. 1989). The Court held that the police must communicate to the accused, the right to consult with an attorney, without cost, before being questioned. At a Motion to Suppress hearing held in connection with the second trial, Detective Childers testified that his testimony at the first trial was in error, and that he did not inform Mr, Thompson that he had the right to an attorney at no cost (R. 32).

On October 8, 1992, after the third jury trial, Mr. Thompson was found guilty of Counts I, II, III and IV. (R. 158-160; T. 438-439). On October 9, 1992, the jury recommended death by a vote of 7-5 (R. 168; T. 575).

The trial court found six aggravating factors: prior felony conviction; murder committed while engaged in a kidnaping; murder committed to avoid arrest; murder committed for pecuniary gain; murder especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel; and murder committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner. The court also found that evidence failed to establish extreme mental or emotional disturbance and substantially impaired capacity, but did give some weight to non-statutory mitigating factors including chronic mental illness, moderate disturbance, symptoms of mental illness, family background, and mental retardation.

On December 28, 1992, Mr. Thompson was sentenced to death for the murders of William Swack and Nancy Walker and consecutive life sentences on each kidnaping. (R. 226).

The Circuit Court of the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit, the Honorable Diana Allen, entered the judgments of conviction and sentence under consideration.

On November 23, 1994, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed Mr. Thompson's convictions and sentences on direct appeal. <u>Thompson</u> <u>v. State</u>, 648 So.2d 692 (Fla. 1994), <u>cert. denied</u>, 115 S. Ct. 2283 (1995).

On April 7, 1999, Mr. Thompson filed a motion to vacate judgments of conviction and sentence asserting that his conviction and sentence of death were obtained in violation of the Fourth, Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, and the corresponding provisions of the Florida Constitution.

The post-conviction motion was summarily denied without an evidentiary hearing by order of the Honorable Judge Diana Allen dated the 18<sup>th</sup> of August, 1999. This is an appeal from the summary denial of that motion for the reasons set forth below.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. Mr. Thompson was denied due process, effective assistance of counsel, and equal protection under the law by the following failures of both the lower court and counsel. The lower court failed to provide an evidentiary hearing on the ineffective assistance of counsel claims based upon counsel's failure to investigate and prepare the case, failure to adequately question jurors about their views on credibility of witnesses, mental health mitigation, mental health experts, and to remove biased jurors and preserve the issue for appeal, failure to present and cross-examine witnesses, failure to object to State interference and Brady violations, failure to make objections during the guilt and penalty phases of trial, failure to provide mental health experts with background information for evaluation of mitigation and intoxication factors, and failure to meet with the defendant prior to commencement of penalty phase.

2. The trial court erred failing to conduct an evidentiary hearing on the claim of counsel's failure to obtain a mental health expert to conduct a professional and appropriate evaluation of Mr. Thompson and an individualized sentencing.

3. Mr. Thompson's jury was given instructions which shifted the burden to Mr. Thompson to prove that death was not the proper sentence, and the judge used the same improper standard to sentence him to death.

4. Mr. Thompson's guilt and penalty phase proceedings were replete with procedural and substantive errors which when considered as a whole deprived him of a fair and impartial trial and sentencing.

5. The capital sentencing statute of Florida is unconstitutional on its face and as applied since it fails to prevent the arbitrary and capricious imposition of the death penalty and violates cruel and unusual punishment prohibitions.

6. The jury and the judge at Mr. Thompson's sentencing improperly considered non-statutory aggravating factors.

7. Mr. Thompson's jury was given jury instructions which unconstitutionally diluted their sense of responsibility for sentencing.

8. The Florida statutes used in Mr. Thompson's sentencing regarding aggravating factors is facially vague, overbroad, and does not provide for adequate narrowing instructions to the jury.

9. Mr. Thompson's sentence rests upon an unconstitutional automatic aggravating circumstance.

10. The Death Penalty Reform Act is unconstitutional on it's face and as applied, and denies Mr. Thompson due process and violates the Fourth, Fifth, Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution.

#### ARGUMENT I

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING MR. THOMPSON'S INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL CLAIMS WITHOUT AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING.

Mr. Thompson was deprived of his right to a reliable trial and individual sentencing proceeding, and he was further denied the effective assistance of counsel during his guilt and penalty phases of trial, in violation of his rights to due process and equal protection under the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, as well as his rights under the corresponding provisions of the Florida Constitution.<sup>1</sup>

In its order, the lower court denied these claims without granting an evidentiary hearing (PC-R 131-166). Mr. Thompson asserts that the lower court erred in failing to grant an evidentiary hearing and in summarily denying the ineffective assistance of counsel claims alleged in the 3.850 motion.

In <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), the United States Supreme Court held that counsel has "a duty to bring to bear such skill and knowledge as will render the trial a reliable adversarial testing process." <u>Strickland</u> requires a defendant to plead and demonstrate (1) unreasonable attorney

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>This argument was raised in Claim I of Mr. Thompson's motion to vacate.

performance, and (2) prejudice. In his 3.850 motion, Mr. Thompson had pled both.

Likewise, defense counsel must also discharge significant responsibilities at the sentencing phase of a capital trial. The United States Supreme Court has held that in a capital case, "accurate sentencing information is an indispensable prerequisite to a reasoned determination of whether a defendant shall live or die [made] by a jury of people who may have never made a sentencing decision." <u>Greqq v. Georgia</u>, 428 U.S. 153, 190 (1976) (plurality opinion).

No tactical motive can be ascribed to an attorney whose omissions are based on the failure to properly investigate or prepare, <u>Brewer v. Aiken</u>, 935 F.2d 850 (7th Cir. 1991). Mr. Thompson's sentence of death is the resulting prejudice. It cannot be said that there is no reasonable probability that the results of the guilt/innocence or sentencing phase of the trial would have been different if the evidence had been presented to the court and the jury.

Counsel's highest duty is the duty to investigate and prepare. Where, as here, counsel unreasonably fails to investigate and prepare, the defendant is denied a fair adversarial testing process and the results are rendered unreliable. Counsel here did not meet these standards. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Kimmelman v. Morrison</u>, 477 U.S. 365, 384-88 (1986)

(failure to request discovery based on mistaken belief state obliged to hand over evidence); <u>Henderson v. Sargent</u>, 926 F.2d 706 (8th Cir. 1991)(failure to conduct pretrial investigation was deficient performance); <u>Chambers v. Armontrout</u>, 907 F.2d 825 (8th Cir. 1990)(en banc) (failure to interview potential selfdefense witness was ineffective assistance); <u>Nixon v. Newsome</u>, 888 F.2d 112 (11th Cir. 1989)(failure to have obtained transcript witness's testimony at co-defendant's trial was ineffective assistance); <u>Code v. Montgomery</u>, 799 F.2d 1481, 1483 (11th Cir. 1986) (failure to interview potential alibi witnesses).

"In a capital case the attorney's duty to investigate all possible lines of defense is strictly observed." <u>Coleman v.</u> <u>Brown</u>, 802 F.2d 1227 (11th Cir. 1986). Mr. Thompson's counsel failed in this duty. <u>No</u> tactical motive can be ascribed to an attorney whose omissions are based on the failure to properly investigate and prepare. <u>See Kimmelman v. Morrison</u>, <u>Chambers v.</u> <u>Armontrout</u>, <u>Nixon v. Newsome</u>. Mr. Thompson's capital conviction and sentence of death are the resulting prejudice. But for counsel's errors, there is a reasonable probability of a different outcome.

Even if counsel provides effective assistance at trial in some areas, the defendant is entitled to relief if counsel renders ineffective assistance in his or her performance in

other portions of the trial. <u>Washington v. Watkins</u>, 655 F.2d 1346, 1355, <u>rehearing denied with opinion</u>, 662 F.2d 1116 (5th Cir. 1981), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 456 U.S. 949 (1982). <u>See also</u> <u>Kimmelman v. Morrison</u>, 106 S. Ct. 2574 (1986). Even a single error by counsel may be sufficient to warrant relief. <u>Nelson v.</u> <u>Estelle</u>, 626 F.2d 903, 906 (5th Cir. 1981)(counsel may be held to be ineffective due to single error where the basis of the error is of constitutional dimension); <u>Nero v. Blackburn</u>, 597 F.2d at 994("sometimes a single error is so substantial that it alone causes the attorney's assistance to fall below the Sixth Amendment standard"); <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>; <u>Kimmelman v.</u> Morrison.

The Eighth Amendment recognizes the need for increased scrutiny in the review of capital verdicts and sentences. <u>Beck</u> <u>v. Alabama</u>, 477 U.S. 625 (1980). The United States Supreme Court noted, in the context of ineffective assistance of counsel, that the correct focus is on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding:

A number of practical considerations are important for the application of the standards we have outlined. Most important, in adjudicating a claim of actual ineffectiveness of counsel, a court should keep in mind that the principles we have stated do not establish mechanical rules. Although those principles should guide the process of decision, <u>the ultimate focus of</u> <u>inquiry must be on the fundamental fairness</u> <u>of the proceeding whose result is being</u> <u>challenged. In every case the court should</u>

<u>be concerned with whether</u>, despite the strong presumption of reliability, <u>the result</u> of the particular proceeding <u>is unreliable</u> because of a breakdown in <u>the adversarial process</u> that our system <u>counts on to produce just</u> <u>results</u>.

<u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 696 (1984) (emphasis added). The evidence presented in these claims demonstrates that the results of Mr. Thompson's trial and penalty phase are unreliable.

A proper review of the ineffective assistance of counsel claims would necessarily require an evidentiary hearing to determine the reasons that counsel failed to call witnesses and completely investigate the case as set forth in subparagraphs A through H that follow. The failure to conduct an evidentiary hearing was error by the lower court.

Further, the record does not support the lower court's finding that the allegations in the 3.850 Motion to Vacate are not supported by any factual allegations in the motion. The motion makes allegations concerning failure of defense counsel to investigate and prepare (PC-R. 102). A post-conviction movant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing unless the motion and the record conclusively show that he is entitled to no relief. A movant's allegations must be accepted as true except to the extent that they are conclusively rebutted by the record. (*see* Valle v. State, 705 So.2d 1331 (Fla. 1997); LeCroy v. Dugger, 727

So.2d 236 (Fla. 1998); <u>Meeks v. State</u>, 382 So.2d 672 (Fla. 1980); <u>Gaskin v. State</u>, 737 So.2d 509 (Fla. 1999).

An evidentiary resolution of the ineffectiveness claims would have been proper, as the files and records in this case did not show that Mr. Thompson was "<u>conclusively</u>" entitled to "no relief".

A. COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILURE TO ADEQUATELY QUESTION POTENTIAL JURORS ABOUT THEIR VIEWS ON THE CREDIBILITY OF WITNESSES, THEIR VIEWS ON MENTAL HEALTH MITIGATION AND MENTAL HEALTH EXPERTS, AND COUNSEL ALSO FAILED TO DISCOVER AND REMOVE BIASED JURORS, AND TO PRESERVE THE ISSUE FOR APPEAL.

Trial counsel performed only a perfunctory voir dire (R. 19-64). He failed to adequately inquire about possible racial prejudice, despite the fact that Mr. Thompson, an African-American, was accused of murdering a white woman and man. Counsel did make an inquiry of the panel about the fact that both counsel were black and that race had nothing to do with the case, however he failed to adequately inquire about the impact from an individual perspective with each of the prospective jurors (R. 41,42). He did not make an adequate individual voir dire inquiry to determine whether race would have some impact given the nature of the crime.

## RACIAL INQUIRY

The court in its order found that because counsel asked a general question regarding race and pointed out to the

prospective jurors that both he and his client were black, that this was adequate (PC-R. 132). The court erred in ruling that this did not show deficient conduct because if counsel had pursued this area of inquiry, on an individual basis, he may have learned of some bias that would have disqualified one of the jurors. Further, even though there were black jurors ultimately seated on the panel, it does not cure his failure to ensure a racially unbiased panel. This is a question regarding counsel's performance that would have been resolved with an evidentiary hearing.

#### WITNESS CREDIBILITY

Mr. Thompson's trial counsel failed to question jurors about their beliefs regarding witnesses' credibility, including the police, and failed to adequately question them about their views on the death penalty.

The court addressed the issue of failing to question jurors about their beliefs regarding witness credibility by alluding to a generic commentary by counsel while admitting that he did not address police officers' credibility (R. Vol I 43-45).

Further, the court determined the issue of the death penalty inquiry in the same fashion by citing portions of the trial record (PC-R. 136-139). However, an evidentiary hearing on these issues was required to obtain evidence of counsel's reasons for not adequately questioning jurors in those areas.

#### MENTAL HEALTH QUESTIONS

In addition, counsel failed to question jurors about their opinions concerning mental health experts and mental health mitigation as it related to both the guilt or penalty phase (R. 19-64).

The court in it's order denying the relief requested admits that counsel did not question jurors about their opinions concerning mental health experts and mitigation, but declares that the deficient performance did not result in prejudice (PC-R. 140). How the court can determine that there was no prejudice to the defendant is uncanny given the verdict and sentence.

Without an evidentiary hearing it is not possible to make that determination. For instance, if one or more jurors harbored opinions that these types of experts or this type of mitigation was not a basis for consideration, they could have influenced or tainted the remainder of the panel.

In it's order, the court after acknowledging that counsel failed to make any inquiry into these areas, assumes that even if counsel were deficient it would not have resulted in prejudice (PC-R. 140). This area of inquiry was extremely critical for mitigation purposes. How the court determined that the failure was not prejudicial remains a mystery without conducting an evidentiary hearing. Jurors' beliefs about mental health and

experts who testify about it are pivotal in ensuring that the defendant receives a fair and impartial trial and sentencing.

#### FUNDAMENTAL ERROR REGARDING JURORS

Mr. Thompson's trial counsel allowed a prejudiced juror to remain on the jury panel. When jurors were questioned about whether they would insist on Mr. Thompson taking the stand, at least two jurors replied that they could not follow the law even if the judge instructed them that they could not infer anything from the fact that Mr. Thompson did not take the stand (R. 37-39).<sup>2</sup>

Potential juror Leonora Wolcott stated she believed that an innocent defendant would speak out, and if Mr. Thompson remained silent, she would have difficulty believing his innocence (R. 37). Both potential jurors Cheri Russel and Wolcott insisted that they would not be able to follow the judge's instructions as to Mr. Thompson's right to remain silent. (R. 37-39).

However, counsel failed to request a strike for cause on these two jurors. He should have requested additional peremptory challenges if needed or at a minimum interposed an objection to preserve the issue for appeal. Ultimately, Ms. Wolcott did serve as a juror in this case (R. 60). The resulting prejudice was a conviction and the 7-5 vote for death.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Potential juror Cheri Russel said that she would penalize Mr. Thompson for remaining silent; if it were her, she would be fighting for her life (R. 37).

The court finds in it's order that the failure of counsel to remove juror Leonora Wolcott was not prejudicial because the Supreme Court found that the evidence was more than sufficient to support the convictions (PC-R. 141). The defendant's claim is not based upon sufficiency of evidence. The issue is whether that juror was tainted herself and whether she tainted the panel regarding the defendant's right to remain silent. The fact that the Florida Supreme Court affirmed the conviction has no relevance, and it is not a legal reason for denying the claim.

The court erred and violated the defendant's right to due process, and the Fifth Amendment by allowing a juror to remain on the panel without removing her for cause, especially when her opinion about the defendant's right not to testify and remain silent was so blatantly in contravention of constitutional law. The court should have exercised its power and excluded this juror with or without the aid of counsel. Moreover, the court should have granted an evidentiary hearing on this issue of ineffectiveness since it had ramifications both as to the guilt and penalty phases of the trial. The trial court violated Florida law by not stating a reason for the denial of the claim, and she failed to attach the proper portions of the record that showed the defendant was not entitled to relief.

## B. COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILURE TO ADEQUATELY INVESTIGATE AND ARGUE THE CASE DURING THE GUILT PHASE.

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