IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CHARLIE THOMPSON,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROL M. DITTMAR
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0503843
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607-2366
(813) 873-4739

CASE NO. SC96641

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court properly summarily denied Thompson's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. An evidentiary hearing is only warranted on such a claim where specific facts, not conclusively rebutted by the record, demonstrate a deficiency in performance which prejudiced the defendant; Thompson's motion did not meet this test. Because the motion and record conclusively demonstrate that Thompson is not entitled to relief, summary denial was required.

Issues II, IV, VI, VII, and VIII are procedurally barred because they were not presented to the trial court in the postconviction motion. Even if they had been, claims VI, VII and VIII would have been procedurally barred at that point as direct appeal issues; Issues II and IV would be insufficiently pled.

Issues III, V, and IX were properly summarily denied by the court below. These issues were all procedurally barred, as they should have been raised at trial and on direct appeal; they are also without merit.

Issue X is procedurally barred since it was not presented to the trial court for consideration. It should have been presented in Thompson's habeas petition to this Court. In addition, this Court has previously rejected Thompson's arguments as to the constitutionality of Florida's lethal injection statute.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING THOMPSON'S CLAIMS OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF TRIAL COUNSEL.

Thompson's first claim presents a multi-faceted attack on the adequacy of his attorneys' performance during the trial and sentencing proceedings. Each of Thompson's allegations will be examined in turn; as will be seen, none of his assertions warranted an evidentiary hearing in the court below.

In <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 689 (1984), the United States Supreme Court established a two-part test for reviewing claims of ineffective assistance of counsel, which requires a defendant to show that (1) counsel's performance was deficient and fell below the standard for reasonably competent counsel and (2) the deficiency affected the outcome of the proceedings. The first prong of this test requires a defendant to establish that counsel's acts or omissions fell outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance, in that counsel's errors were "so serious that counsel was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment." 466 U.S. at 687, 690; Valle v. State, 705 So. 2d 1331, 1333 (Fla. 1997); Rose v. State, 675 So. 2d 567, 569 (Fla. 1996). The second prong requires a showing that the "errors were so serious as to

deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable," and thus there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the proceedings would have been different. 466 U.S. at 687, 695; 705 So. 2d at 1333; 675 So. 2d at 569. A proper analysis requires that counsel's performance be reviewed with a spirit of deference; there is a strong presumption that counsel's conduct was reasonable. 466 U.S. at 689.

It must be noted that, for much of this claim, Thompson's allegations are speculative and unsubstantiated. For example, Thompson faults trial counsel for failing to secure independent forensic experts; an expert on retardation and its possible effect on Thompson's competency; an independent forensic pathologist; an independent crime scene analyst; and an expert toxicologist. However, Thompson never identifies what particular information would have been provided by these additional experts. Instead, the postconviction motion repeatedly asserted that postconviction counsel was currently obtaining such experts to assist them with In Strickland, the Court rejected the idea that the case. speculation that alleged errors "could have" or "might have" affected the verdict would demonstrate ineffectiveness; thus, such allegations are not sufficient to warrant an evidentiary hearing. 466 U.S. at 694.

A. JURY SELECTION

Thompson first challenges his attorney's questioning of potential jurors, claiming that there was no adequate inquiry regarding possible racial bias, the credibility of witnesses, or opinions relating to the presentation of mental health evidence and mental health experts. He also asserts that counsel failed to remove and discover biased jurors, or to preserve the issue for appeal. It must be noted initially that the claim that counsel failed to conduct jury selection in a reasonably professional manner is procedurally barred, as it is based entirely on the transcript of the trial and therefore could have been raised on direct appeal. Robinson v. State, 707 So. 2d 688, 697, n. 16 (Fla. 1998) (claim of ineffective assistance of counsel based on jury selection was procedurally barred). Even if considered, however, no relief is warranted in this claim.

The court below noted that the trial record reflects that defense counsel did address possible racial bias, reminding the panel that race had nothing to do with deciding the case, and all of the prospective jurors acknowledged the necessity for "color blindness" (PC-R. 133; see DA-R. III/41-42). The court also noted that counsel addressed the need to assess witness credibility, and that, although the credibility of police officers was not specifically discussed, any possible deficiency in this regard

could not have prejudiced Thompson (PC-R. 134-35; see DA-R. III/43-45). Similarly, the court found that any possible deficiency in failing to ask jurors about mental health experts and mitigation could not reasonably have affected the outcome of the trial (PC-R. 140).

The claim that counsel failed to exclude a biased juror is premised on counsel's failure to request that potential juror Walcott be excused for cause. 2 During jury selection, Walcott admitted that she had "difficulty" with the concept that an accused defendant would chose not to testify in his own defense, even if the law did not require him to do so. Although Thompson characterizes Walcott's comments as "insist[ing] that [she] would able to follow judge's instructions," this not be the characterization is not a reasonable construction of Walcott's The record reflects that, although Walcott was not statements. asked individually about her ability to follow the law, there were several times when the prospective panel as a whole acknowledged that the case would have to be decided on the strength of the State's evidence, and nothing else; they also acknowledged the defendant's fundamental right not to testify (DA-R. III/41, 43, 51-52).

 $^{^{2}}$ As noted by the court below, the second identified prospective juror disputed by Thompson did not serve on the jury (PC-R. 141; DA-R. III/60-61).

A review of the transcript of the jury selection as a whole clearly demonstrates that defense counsel acted reasonably as the advocate required by the Sixth Amendment. In addition, even if some possible deficiency were contemplated based on Thompson's current counsel's suggestion that he would have done things differently during voir dire, no prejudice can be discerned in this case. Given the strength of the State's evidence against Thompson including weighty circumstantial evidence that possessed some of the victim's jewelry shortly after the murders and was arrested attempting to use a check which one of the victims had written to him for no apparent reason just prior to the murders, as well as direct evidence of Thompson's inculpatory statements to a cellmate -- no reasonable juror would have failed to convict Thompson of these murders. Since the outcome would not have been different even if voir dire had been conducted as now suggested, no prejudice accrued. See, Thomas v. Borg, 159 F.3d 1147, 1152 (9th Cir. 1998) (in rejecting claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to establish underrepresentation of blacks on his jury, court found no prejudice because evidence was so overwhelming that no reasonable juror, black or white, would have voted to acquit Thomas). Given the speculative nature of Thompson's second-quessing trial counsel's jury selection, the lack of any clearly identifiable bias among the jurors that convicted him and recommended his death sentences, and the absence of any possible prejudice, the court below properly summarily denied this claim.

B. GUILT PHASE INVESTIGATION

Thompson's next allegation relates to his attorney's failure to present alibi witnesses, an independent forensic expert, and testimony relating to Thompson's mental retardation during the guilt phase of the trial. As to this claim, it is critical to note that the alleged alibi witnesses did not actually account for Thompson's whereabouts during the time frame of the murders. Although one witness allegedly would have provided information about giving Thompson a ride before 10:00 a.m. the day of the murders, the record reflects that the victims were still alive at that time (DA-R. IV/154, 180). The other witness allegedly saw Thompson at a barbecue that day, but no time frame is offered.

Furthermore, in Thompson's first trial, he testified that he was at the cemetery just prior to the murders (1DA-R. VI/796-798). In addition, postconviction counsel represented at the <u>Huff</u> hearing that these witnesses had not been located and the record does not reflect they could be available for any evidentiary hearing; to the contrary, Thompson's current brief asserts that these witnesses are now dead. No basis for an evidentiary hearing exists on these

facts.

The claim as to the independent forensic expert, as previously noted, is speculative. Thompson's concerns that other individuals may have been witnesses, that tangible evidence from the scene may have implicated someone else, and that a bag of clothing found at the scene may have provided exculpatory evidence do not offer specific facts to support his postconviction claim, only unsubstantiated guesswork. Thus, no evidentiary hearing was required.

Thompson's claim that trial counsel failed to investigate the effect of his retardation on his competency to stand trial is clearly refuted by the record. Prior to Thompson's October, 1992 trial, defense counsel moved for another competency examination Drs. Gonzalez and Sprehe were appointed to (DA-R. I/59-60).evaluate Thompson, and both found him to be competent (DA-R. I/71-75). Thereafter, defense counsel filed another motion, reciting the facts regarding Thompson's retardation from prior trials, and requesting the court to appoint a team of experts from HRS to determine his retardation and competency (DA-R. I/76-77). court granted the motion and continued the trial in order to provide sufficient time to investigate this aspect of Thompson's competence (DA-R. I/78-82; IX/652-665). The HRS team concluded that Thompson was both retarded and incompetent to stand trial, and defense counsel presented the testimony of Dr. Charles Logan to the trial judge at a competency hearing (DA-R. I/106-113; IX/736-759).

Clearly, on these facts, Thompson's assertion that defense counsel failed to investigate the effect of his retardation on his competency to stand trial is well refuted. Furthermore, Thompson has not actually asserted in postconviction that he was in fact incompetent, only that counsel should have investigated further and that he was currently seeking the services of a mental health expert in this matter (PC-R. 106). It should also be noted that, although postconviction counsel repeatedly faults trial counsel for failing to present testimony about competency to Thompson's guilt phase jury, the question of competency is a legal issue for the court, not a factual issue for the jury. See, Watts v. State, 593 So. 2d 198, 202 (Fla. 1992) (noting that, in Florida, competency determination is ultimately for trial court). Thompson has never alleged that he was insane at the time of the crime, 4 and therefore counsel should not be faulted for failing to present mental health testimony in the guilt phase of Thompson's trial.

Finally, it must be noted that Thompson's current brief improperly suggests that the court below found trial counsel to

³Dr. Logan also testified during the penalty phase of Thompson's trial, along with Dr. Robert Berland (DA-R. VII/452-464, 465-510).

⁴Defense experts consistently acknowledged that Thompson was sane at the time of the crime (DA-R. VII/508; 1DA-R. VII/958).

have been deficient, and rejected the postconviction claim solely on the basis of lack of prejudice (see, Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 17, "The court again makes a finding that the deficient performance did not result in prejudice" and p. 18, "... the court again admits that it was deficient performance but did not result in prejudice ..."). In fact, the court below repeatedly found that no possible prejudice could be demonstrated if deficiency were to be assumed, and repeatedly recognized that due to the lack of prejudice, it was not necessary to determine whether deficient performance had been adequately pled (PC-R. 143-145).

C. PRESENTATION OF EVIDENCE

Thompson's next complaint about trial counsel's performance suggests that counsel should have refuted the State's theory, and the medical examiner's testimony, that there was a struggle between the murderer and victim Swack; counsel should have demonstrated that the crime scene could have been contaminated; and counsel should have presented testimony about Thompson's drug use at the time of the crime and the effect on his mental retardation. Once again, many of Thompson's allegations in this regard are wholly speculative and unworthy of an evidentiary hearing.

At the trial, Dr. Diggs noted that victim Swack had sustained a total of nine knife wounds: two shallow wounds on the left side

of his neck; two over the left side of his chest, one of which penetrated his chest and went into his lung; another superficial wound to his side; two deep wounds to his left abdomen which penetrated the abdominal cavity; another deep wound on his right side which also penetrated the abdominal cavity; superficial wound in his right shoulder, at the base of his neck; and the last one behind his right ear which went through his scalp but did not penetrate his skull (DA-R. V/253-260). All of the wounds were inflicted while Swack was alive, and all were prior to the final injury, a gunshot wound to the head, at the corner of Swack's left eye, which would have rendered him immediately incapacitated (DA-R. V/260-263). According to Diggs, the random fashion in which the wounds were found at different locations indicated some sort of struggle had been taking place (DA-R. V/260).

Thompson now challenges Diggs' testimony, but the only specific factual support for his claim that counsel should have investigated the validity of the theory that a struggle occurred is counsel's footnote that the superficial wounds to Swack's neck look, according to counsel's untrained review of the autopsy photos, "just as consistent with a scrape or bite as with a stab wound" (Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 19). This lone fact is surely insufficient to warrant an evidentiary hearing. Although

the postconviction motion asserts that counsel was obtaining the services of independent forensic experts including a pathologist, crime scene analyst, and toxicologist, no facts as to what these particular experts could offer to support this claim are provided. Speculation that "perhaps" other suspects could have been discovered or other theories about the crime scene may have been developed is insufficient to require a hearing.

Furthermore, the suggestion that counsel should have presented testimony regarding Thompson's drug and alcohol abuse is refuted by the record. During the penalty phase, Dr. Berland testified about Thompson's history of drug use, including his having used cocaine for a considerable period of time right up to the time of his arrest (DA-R. VII/498). According to Berland, drug or alcohol use by psychotic people will typically increase the severity of their symptoms, like throwing gasoline on the flames of mental illness (DA-R. VII/499). Thompson has not identified any particular drugs he allegedly used the day of the murders, and Berland's notes did not suggest that Thompson told him that he was using drugs that day; in addition, Dr. Sprehe's competency report indicated that Thompson had admitted a history of cocaine use, but not on the day of the crime (DA-R. I/71-72; VII/501). Thus, Thompson's current allegations about drug use provide no more than what was offered to his jury in the penalty phase, and do not warrant a hearing.

D. STATE INTERFERENCE WITH EVIDENCE

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